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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

March 25, 1985

March 22, 1985

Mr. Robert Brandenburg
17396 Delaware
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740

Dear Mr. Brandenburgqg:

This is in response to your request for the
attachments which were a part of the General Counsel's
Report submitted to the Commission in connection with
MUR 1740. Enclosed you will find a copy of Mary Holmes'
response to the Commission and a copy of the letter
signed by Chairman John Warren McGarry which was mailed
to Mrs. Holmes.

If you have any further questions, please contact
Eric Kleinfeld, the attorney assioned to this matter,
at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,
Charles N.

Kenneth A.
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
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Charles Steele RE: MUR 1740
General Counsel MARY HOLMES
Federal Election Commission

Washington D.C. 20463

'Dear Mr Steele

I find it intolerable that when a carping ass complains because he doesn't
like what's going on in a little Republican Club in Utica Michigan, your agency

spends more taxpayers dollars on his bull-shit complaint than I spent on the
entire mailing!

a I find it totally distastful that once the F.E.C. starts their bureéucratic
letter writing they don't know how to stop.

™~

When the F.E.C. sends threatening and harrassing letters, based on the
Pomplaints of malcontents, to someone (in this instance, me), who wasn't even
cg\a'nvolved in a F.E.C. election, I believe you are trampling on my rights.

or As of this writing, the Shelby Township Republican Club has less than $100.00
in the bank. IT HAS NEVER, EVER, HAD OVER $100.00 in the bank! We are little
!fotatoes, but nevertheless, I appreciate that you and my detractors believe that
c5 and the Club, singlehandidly elected the President to a second term.

JI I am returning your questionaire.

o As you can see, I personally spent less than $30.00 on the entire mailing
’gyat went out to our mailing list.
o

Yours for more effecient and
less costly government

Y ms%/,&_a,

Puid 1or by Mary Molmes 107 State Representative Commities * 4830 Pamels, Utica, Michigen 48087




Questions to Ma:ylaolnes

On July 16, 1984, a complaint was filed with the Federal
Election Commission against Mary Holmes, President of the Shelby

County Republican Club, the subject of which was a five item

"letter which in part concerned President Reagan's re-election. A
copy of the mailing was included with the complaint and is

attached to these questions as Attachment A. All references in

the guestions to the mailing refer to the above-mentioned letter.

l) What was the total number of letters mailed, sent out or

otherwise distributed or delivered?

| : , JfolonTlna,
e 223 Lt

What was the total cost of sending out and distributing the

mailing including reproduction costs and postage?

122 G i S

o? ‘RS
3) Who paid~for the matling?

2T A

Answers should be submitted under oath and forwarded to the

Comnission within 10 days of your receipt of these questions.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

March 18, 1985

Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mrs. Holmes:

On November 23, 1984, the Commission found reason to believe
that you violated 2 U.S.C. § 4414, a provision of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act") in
connection with the above referenced MUR. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
determined to take no further action and close its file.

The £ile in this matter will be made part of the public
record within 30 days. Should you wish to submit any materials
to appear on the public record, please do so within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that failing to affix a
disclaimer notice to a mailing on behalf of a federal candidate's
re-election nevertheless appears to be a violation of 2 U.S.C.

§ 441d. You should take steps to insure that this activity does
not occur in the future.

The Commission has taken cognizance of the objestion voiced
by you in your letter to Charles N. Steele, General Counsel of
the Commission, that was received on January 30, 1985. The
Commission is always concerned over committing its limited
resources prudently. We would be remiss if we did not point out
in this instance that a prompt response to our initial
notification would have facilitated the settlement of this matter
and conserved the Government's resources.

If you have any questions, please direct them to
Eric Kleinfeld, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)

523-4000.
Sig%% ‘

John Warren McGarry
Chairman




BEZFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session of March 5,
1985, do Hereby certify that the Commission decided by a
vote of 6-0 to take the following actions in MUR 1740:

e Take no further action against Mary Holmes
for a violation of 2 U.S.C. § 4414d.

Ao Approve the sending of the letters attached
to the General Counsel's report dated
February 22, 1985, subject to amendment of
the letter to Mary Holmes as agreed upon
during the meeting.
373 Close the file.
Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, McDonald,
McGarry, and Reiche voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

3-5-825 mﬂéﬂg_‘

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

March 18, 1985

Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mrs. Holmes:

On November 23, 1984, the Commission found reason to believe
that you violated 2 U.S.C. § 4414, a provision of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act") in
connection with the above referenced MUR. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
determined to take no further action and close its file.

The file in this matter will be made part of the public
record within 30 days. Should you wish to submit any materials
to appear on the public record, please do so within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that failing to affix a
disclaimer notice to a mailing on behalf of a federal candidate's
re-election nevertheless appears to be a violation of 2 U.S.C.

§ 441d. You should take steps to insure that this activity does
not occur in the future.

The Commission has taken cognizance of the objection voiced
by you in your letter to Charles N. Steele, General Counsel of
the Commission, that was received on January 30, 1985. The
Commission is always concerned over committing its limited
resources prudently. We would be remiss if we did not point out
in this instance that a prompt response to our initial
notification would have facilitated the settlement of this matter
and conserved the Government's resources.

If you have any questions, please direct them to
Eric Kleinfeld, the attorney assigngg to this matter, at (202)

523-4000.
| IW%

John Warren McGarry
Chairman




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

March 18, 1985

Ronald E. Robertson, Chief Counsel
Reagan - Bush '84

440 First Street, N.W.

washington, D.C. 20001

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mr. Robertson:

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials to be placed on the public record in connection
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any questions, contact Eric Kleinfeld, the
attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)523-4000.

Sincerely,

Counsel

Enclosure




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

March 18, 1985

Robert C. Brandenburg
17396 Delaware
Utica, Michigan 48087

Re: MUR 1740
Dear Mr. Brandenburg:

The Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations of
your complaint dated July 14, 1984, and determined that on the
basis of the information provided in your complaint and
information provided by Respondent there is reason to believe
that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended ("the Act") has been committed. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
decided to take no further action and close its file. The
Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this action.
See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(l) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.
Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

Associate Gegeral Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mrs. Holmes:

On November 23, 1984, the Commission found reason to believe
that you violated 2 U.S.C. § 4414, a provision of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act") in
connection with the above referenced MUR. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
determined to take no further action and close its file.

The file in this matter will be made part of the public
record within 30 days. Should you wish to submit any materials
to appear on the public record, please do so within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that failing to affix a
disclaimer notice to a mailing on behalf of a federal candidate's
re-election nevertheless appears to be a violation of 2 U.S.C.

§ 441d. You should take steps to insure that this activity does
not occur in the future.

The Commission has taken cognizance of the objection voiced
by you in your letter to Charles N. Steele, General Counsel of
the Commission, that was received on Januvary 30, 1985. The
Commission is always concerned over committing its limited
resources prudently. We would be remiss if we did not point out
in this instance that a prompt response to our initial
notification would have facilitated the settlement of this matter
and conserved the Government's resources.

If you have any questions, please direct them to
Eric Kleinfeld, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)
523-4000.

Sincerely,

John Warren McGarry
Chairman




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

Ronald E. Robertson, Chief Counsel
Reagan - Bush '84

440 First Street, N.W.

washington, D.C. 20001

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mr. Robertson:

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials tc be placed on the public record in connection
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any gquestions, contact Eric Kleinfeld, the
attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)523-4000.

Sincerely,
Charles N, Steele

General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

Robert C. Brandenburg
17396 Delaware
Utica, Michigan 48087

Re: MUR 1740
Dear Mr. Brandenburg:

The Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations of
your complaint dated July 14, 1984, and determined that on the
basis of the information provided in your complaint and
information provided by Respondent there is reason to believe
that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended ("the Act") has been committed. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
decided to take no further action and close its file. The
Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this actlon.
See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (1) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




® O
BEFORE Tnnm'mn COMMISSIONO! "
COMis:
In the Matter of ) )
Mary Holmes ; MURTLTA40 WFIR?2 P4 08
GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT

BACKGROUND

This matter is based on a complaint filed by Robert

Brandenberg alleging that Mary Holmes, a former candidate for the
26th Michigan State Representative District, failed to affix a
disclaimer notice to a mailing made on behalf of President
Reagan's re-election. The mailing at issue contained the
following documents: 1) An envelope mailed to an addressee
bearing the statement "Mary Holmes for State Representative." 2)
A letter announcing Mary Holmes® candidacy for State
Representative. The letter outlines Mary Holmes' experience and
states her position on certain issues. The letter also notes
that Mary Holmes is the Chairperson of the 26th District
Reagan-Bush '84 campaign and requests that anyone wishing to
become involved in a grass-roots presidential campaign fill out
and mail the enclosed post card. 3) A post card which states
"Yes, I want to help Mary Holmes help the President." The card
requests assistance with making telephone calls, stuffing and
labeling envelopes, posting bumper stickers, and posting yard
signs. The card also solicits contributions to the Shelby
Township Republican Club. 4) A return envelope addressed to

Reagan-Bush '84, c/o Mary Holmes, President, Shelby Township




Republican Club. 5) A two page leaflet featuring President
Reagan and Vice Pruident Bush which contains the disclaimer
‘:jnoticc, 'Paid fom by Raagan-Buah '84; Paul La:alt, Chairman;
'Angela ﬂ,‘Bubhanan Jackson, Treasurer."

uary Holmos failed to respond to the complaint in this

~natter. On November 23, 1984, the Federal Election Commission

("Commission”) found reason to believe that Mary Holmes violated
2 ﬁgS.C._s 44id of‘the Federal Election Campaign Act, as amended
("the Act"). 1In making this determination, the Commission also
approved and authorized the sending of questions to Mary Holmes.

Mary Holmes failed to respond to the RTB notification and
the questions sent to her by the Commission. On January 3, 1985,
the Commission authorized the sending of the same questions to
Mary Holmes under Order, requiring a response within ten (10)
days of receipt by Mary Holmes. Mary Holmes' answers to these
questions were received by the Office of General Counsel on
January 30, 1985.
II. PFACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

In response to the Commission's question concerning the
total number of letters mailed or otherwise distributed,
Mary Holmes indicated that approximately 225 such letters were
sent to "Republican volunteers, precinct delegates and party
contributors."” The total cost of the mailing at issue was
$27.67, consisting of $20.92 for postage, $2.25 for envelopes,
$2.25 for the letter announcing Mary Holmes' candidacy, and $2.25

for the post card and return envelope included with the mailing.
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Mary Holmes acquired 225 copies of the two page leaflet featuring
President Reagan and Vice President Bush at no cost.!/ The

entire cost of the mailing ($27.67) was paid for by Mary Holmes.
2 U.8.C. § 4414(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.11 ltato‘that
whenever a person makes an expenditure for the purpose of
financing communications which advocate the election or defeat of
a candidate or sdlidits any contribution through direct mail the
communication, if it is paid for and authorized by a candidate or
his authorized political committee, shall state that it has been
paid for by such political committee. If the communication is
paid for by another person but authorized by a candidate or the
candidate's committee, the communication shall so state. If the
communication is not authorized by a candidate or the candidate's
committee, the communication must clearly state who paid for the
communication and indicate that it is not authorized by any
candidate or candidate's committee. Mary Holmes' letter
contained a card soliciting contributions to help her help

President Reagan and contained the two page leaflet featuring

*/ The exact source of these leaflets is unknown. In a telephone
conversation with this office, the husband of Mary Holmes,
Michigan State Senator Kirby Holmes, indicated that he put
together the mailing and had no recollection of the source of the
Reagan-Bush leaflets. Reagan-Bush '84 had previously indicated
in its response to the complaint in this matter, that an
individual who "held himself out to be state Senator Kirby
Holmes" requested a large quantity of Reagan-Bush '84 brochures
not unlike the ones mailed by Mrs. Holmes. Reagan-Bush '84
declined to provide the materials.
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President Reagan and Vice President Bush. No disclaimer notice

appeared on the material advising the reader that the letter and

enclosures were paid for by Mary Holmes and not authorized by

Reagan-Bush '84.

In spite of an apparent violation of 2 U.S.C. § 4414 by
Mary Holmes, further enforcement of this matter, as made evident
by Respondent's letter, would require a considerable expenditure
of Commission resources over a mailing which cost, in total, less
than thirty dollars. Although the tone of Mary Holmes letter, at
the very least, reflects the problems the Office of General
Counsel has had in conducting its investigation intc this matter
and eliciting a response from Mrs. Holmes, there is no evidence
suggesting that Mrs. Holmes spent more than $27.67 on the mailing
in question.

Mary Holmes did respond to the Commission's Order, albeit
late. The Office of General Counsel believes that the small
amount expended for the mailing, balanced against the amount of
Commission resources which would be required to pursue this
matter to a conclusion, cutweighs the apparent violation.
Accordingly, the Office of General Counsel recommends that the
Commission take no further action in this matter, but send the

respondent a letter of admonition,




III. RECOMMENDATION
The Office of General Counsel recommends that the
Commission:
1. Take no further action against Mary Holmes for a
violation of 2 U.S.C. § 4414d.
2. Approve the sending of the attached letters.
3. Close the file. ’

Charles N. Steele
General €

Associate General/Counsel

Attachments
I. Mary Holmes' response
II. Proposed letters
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Charles Steele RE: MUR 1740
General Counsel MARY HOLMES
Federal Election Commission

Washington D.C. 20463

Dear Mr Steele

I find it intolerable that when a carping ass complains because he doesn't
like what's going on in a little Republican Club in Utica Michigan, your agency
spends more taxpayers dollars on his bull-shit complaint than I spent on the
entire mailing!®

(1 I find it totally distastful that once the F.E.C. starts their bureaucratic
“letter writing they don't know how to stop.
o

When the F.E.C. sends threatening and harrassing letters, based on the
Mlomplaints of malcontents, to someone (in this instance, me), who wasn't even
<\anolved in a F.E.C. election, I believe you are trampling on my rights.

oy As of this writing, the Shelby Township Republican Club has less than $100.00
in the bank. IT HAS NEVER, EVER, HAD OVER $100.00 in the bank! We are little’
!fpotatoes, but nevertheless, I appreciate that you and my detractors believe that

I and the Club, singlehandidly elected the President to a second term.

ik

< I am returning your questionaire.

o As you can see, I personally spent less than $30.00 on the entire mailing
) that went out to our mailing list.

L0

oD

Yours for more effecient and
less costly government

7 m//,ém,

Pa:c lor by Mary Hoimas for State Representative CommHies ¢ 4830 Pamels, Ulica, Michigan 48087
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Questions to Marylaolmes

On July 16, 1984, a complaint was filed with the Federal

Election Commission against Mary Holmes, President of the Shelby
County Republican Club, the subject of which was a five item
letter which in part concerned President Reagan's re-election. A

copy of the mailing was included with the complaint and is

attached to these guestions as Attachment A. All references in

-~ -

the guestions to the meiling refer to the above-rentioned letter.

1) Wwhat was the total number of letters mailed, sent out or

otherwise distributed or delivered? / Z Z:
ﬁfﬂiﬂﬁs ot £ / |

wWhat was the total cost of sendlng out and distributing the

mailing iﬂcluding reproductlon costs and oostage’

§20 72 —'3:3-{
.? ;;g' 7ﬂﬂ¢#44(:)

i
3) Who pa1d for the ma 1ng°
7,2,/47/»7;7’

Answers should be submitted under oath and forwarded to the

Comnission within 10 days of your receipt of these questions.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mrs. Holmes:

On November 23, 1984, the Commission found reason to believe
that you violated 2 U.S.C. § 4414, a provision of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act") in
connection with the above referenced MUR. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
determined to take no further action and close its file.

The file in this matter will be made part of the public
record within 30 days. Should you wish to submit any materials
to appear on the public record, please do so within 10 days.

The Commission reminds you that failing to affix a
disclaimer notice to a mailing on behalf of a federal candidate's
re-election nevertheless appears to be a violation of 2 U.S.C.

§ 441d. You should take immediate steps to insure that this
activity does not occur in the future,.

If you have any questions, please direct them to
Eric Kleinfeld, the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)
523-4000.

Sincerely,

John Warren McGarry
Chairman




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

Robert C. Brandenburg
17396 Delaware
Utica, Michigan 48087

Re: MUR 1740
Dear Mr. Brandenburg:

The Federal Election Commission reviewed the allegations of
your complaint dated July 14, 1984, and determined that on the
basis of the information provided in your complaint and
information provided by Respondent there is reason to believe
that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended ("the Act") has been committed. However, after
considering the circumstances of this matter, the Commission has
decided to take no further action and ' close its file. The
Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this action.
See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (1) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A, Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

Ronald E. Robertson, Chief Counsel
Reagan - Bush '84

440 First Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20001

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Mr. Robertson:

This is to advise you that the entire file in this matter
has now been closed and will become part of the public record
within thirty days. Should you wish to submit any legal or
factual materials to be placed on the public record in connection
with this matter, please do so within 10 days.

Should you have any guestions, contact Eric Kleinfeld, the
attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)523-4000.

Sincerely,
Charles N. Steele

General Counsel

By: Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM
TO: Office of the Commission quretary

FROM: Office of General Counsel
DATE : February 22, 1985

SUBJECT : MUR 1740 - General Counsel's Report

The attached 'is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

43 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive _
Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1740

Mary Holmes

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on January 3,
1985, the Commission approved and authorized by a vote
of 5-0 the sending of the Order to Answer Interrogatories
and letter to Mary Holmes, submitted with the General
Counsel's Report signed December 28, 1984.

Commissioners Elliott, Harris, McDonald, McGarry and
Reiche voted affirmatively in this matter; Commissioner

Aikens did not cast a vote in this matter.

Attest:

)

Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

N

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 12-28-84,
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 12-31-84,

1:16
11:00
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Charles Steele RE: MUR 1740
General Counsel MARY HOLMES
Federal Election Commission

Washington D.C. 20463

'Dear Mr Steele

I find it intolerable that when a carping ass complains because he doesn't
like what's going on in a little Republican Club in Utica Michigan, your agency
spends more taxpayers dollars on his bull-shit complaint than I spent on the
entire mailing!

. I find it totally distastful that once the F.E.C. starts their bureaucratic
c,,Qlett:er writing they don't know how to stop.

When the F.E.C. sends threatening and harrassing letters, based on the
complaints of malcontents, to someone (in this instance, me), who wasn't even

QNenvolved in a F.E.C. election, I believe you are trampling on my rights.

N As of this writing, the Shelby Township Republican Club has less than $100.00
ain the bank. IT HAS NEVER, EVER, HAD OVER $100.00 in the bank! We are little
potatoes, but nevertheless, I appreciate that you and my detractors believe that

I and the Club, singlehandidly elected the President to a second term.

I am returning your questionaire.

As you can see, I personally spent less than $30.00 on the entire mailing
that went out to our mailing list.

Yours for more effecient and
less costly government

7 a%%/,ém,

Paid lor by Mary Moimas 16: State Rep | ittee * 4830 Pamela, Utica, Michigan 48087




Questions to Mary'Bolmes

On July is, 1984, a complaint was filed with the Federal
Election Commission against Mary Holmes, President of the Shelby
County Republican Club, the subject of which was a five item
"letter which in part concerned President Reagan's re-election. A
copy of the mailing was included with the complaint and is

attached to these guestions as Attachment A, All references in

the guestions to the mailing refer to the above-mentioned letter.

1) What was the total number of letters mailed, sent out or

otherwise distributed or delivered?

- . , bt
ooy 227 Skl

2) What was the total cost of sending out and distributing the

mailing including reproduction costs and postage?

{20.72 {ff?é 2GR

o TeH A
o ‘RS

3) Who paid~for the matTIing?

Answers should be submitted under oath and forwarded to the

Commission within 10 days of your receipt of these questions.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

January 4, 1985

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Ms. Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Ms, Holmes:

On November 29, 1984, you were notified that the Commission
found reason to believe you violated 2 U.S.C. § 4414, a provision
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. An
investigation of this matter is being conducted and it has been
determined that additional information from you is necessary.

Consequently, the Federal Election Commission has issued the
attached order which requires you to provide information which
will assist the Commission in carrying out its statutory duty of
supervising compliance with the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971, as amended.

You may consult with an attorney and have an attorney assist
you in the preparation of your responses to this order. However,
it is required that you submit the information under oath and
that you do so within ten days of your receipt of this order.

If you have any questions, please direct them to Eric
Kleinfeld, the attorney handling this matter, at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Enclosures
Order
Questions
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )
) MUR 1740
Mary Holmes )

ORDER TO SUBMIT WRITTEN ANSWERS

TO: Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437d(a) (1), and in furtherance of its
investigation in the above-styled matter, the Federal Election
Commission hereby orders you to submit written answers to the
questions attached to this Order.

Such answers must be submitted under oath and must be
forwarded to the Commission within 10 days of your receipt of this ‘
Order.

WHEREFORE, the Chairman of the Federal Election Commission
has hereunto set his hand in Washington, D.C. on this day of

» 1985,

ATTEST:

A;?7‘L1¢AZ1A4_.62)
Marjgr/ie W. Emmons
Secretary to the Commission

Attachments
Questions (1 page)
Attachment A (6 pages)




Questions to Haty'nolmes

On July 16, 1984, a complaint was filed with the Federal

Election Commission against Mary Holmes, President of the Shelby
County Republican Club, the subject of which was a five item
"letter which in part concerned President Reagan's re-election. A
copy of the mailing was included with the complaint and is
attached to these gquestions as Attachment A. All references in

the guestions to the mailing refer to the above-mentioned letter.

l) What was the total number of letters mailed, sent out or

otherwise distributed or delivered?

2) What was the total cost of sending out and distributing the

mailing including reproduction costs and postage?

3) Who paid for the mailing?

Answers should be submitted under oath and forwarded to the

Commission within 10 days of your receipt of these questions.
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ané current Chairman of the Towashipy Planning Commission,
nnouncec her intentions to run for the State House of
sentatives.

“zry Holmes, & Republican, and ‘22 yeér'resident of Shelby, will
the voters z clezr choice between herself and Mary Ellen
(D-Shelby) who currently occupies the 26th District seat.
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that her stand on the issues "are counter o
cpponent', and that es & candicate she will
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: come from e stirong pro-life family a2ncé 1 oppose zbortion.

] oppose the Blanchard-Parrott 38% income tex increase. I want

tc spend more on education and less. on welfare. I would be more
pro-business than Mary Ellen, Tecognizing that before we have jobs
we must first have employers in this state. Michigan business is
either going bankrupt, or leaving the state because of the anti-
tusiness stand of Mary Ellen Parrott and those like her in Lansing."

Holmes concludes that her election will '"send a message to
iensing that their tax znc¢ spend policy hes to change, and that
hey can no lenger fund their pet projects and raise their salaries
the backs of the taxpayer of our state."

Xxx

Holmes irman of the 26th Pistrict REAGAN-BUSH 'ss
anc ask nvone wishing tc ioin her and become

Ao neEd! pamall s res s iNnreishidie ntaae kINTE R a8 TRATTBADe O
RATEENS I . § i5 [ E O e T S




YES, 1 WANT,TO HELP Mary Holmes HELP THE
President ./

I WILL MAKE -TELEPHONE CALLS

I WILL STUFF AND LABEL FNVELOPES

BUMPER STICKER YARD SIGN
ENCLOSED IS A CONTRIBUTION OF -

fs100 [ Jsso [ ls2s [ ls10
o Muke checks payable to Shelby Township Republican

Club. ;

(Zip Code)

BRI (TTTYITS R
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c/0 MARY HOLMES, PRESIDENT
SHELBY TOWNSHIP REPUBLICAN CLUB
49680 VAN DYKE
UTICA, MI. 48081
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yea, the preatest conploviment painm L vems

President Reagan's progzram alio conguered intlition-
the cruelest tax of all. “That crippling:, donble-cipgit inflation
rate has been oot to 3.8 percent. Py esident Reagao aliao
vedirected a broad rangee of social services (o those
Amciicans truly in need.

Al Americans are hetter off s than they were four

years apo.

[ ]
World leadership

Americais abo baclcas a world Teadhec . Under T esident
Reagan's leadership, we have sebuilt om mational defenses
andd gaincd respoct amome nations with a fivm, coberent
lorcym policy.

The national sccunity of tie United States has Ieen
strengthened and Amenca has regsined its standing as the
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM TO: CHARLES N. STEELE
GENERAL COUNSEL

FROM: MARJORIE W. EMMONS/JODY C. RANSOMé;kD/ﬁi

DATE: JANUARY 8, 1985

SUBJECT: ORDER RE: MUR 1740

The attached order was Commission approved on
January 3, 1985 by a vote of 5-0. It has been signed

and sealed this date.

Attachment




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Office of the Commission Secretary

FROM: Office of General Counsel.C&Kﬂ(
DATE: December 28, 1984

SUBJECT: MUR 1740 - General Counsel's Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)
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In the Matter of )
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Mary Holmes )

GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT
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BACKGROUND

This matter is based on a complaint filed by Robert
Brandenberg alleging that Mary Holmes, a former candidate for the
26th Michigan State Representative District, failed to affix a
disclaimer notice to a mailing made on behalf of President
Reagan's re-election, On November 23, 1984, the Federal Election
Commission ("Commission") found reason to believe that Mary
Holmes violated 2 U.S.C. § 441d of the Federal Election Campaign
Act, as amended ("the Act"). In making this determination, the
Commission also approved and authorized the sending of questions
to Mary Holmes (these questions were attached to the First
General Counsel's Report and are here attached as Attachment 2).

Mary Holmes has failed to respond in any way in connection
with this matter. She did not respond to the Commission's letter
notifying her of the filing of the complaint, and she has failed
to respond to the questions sent to her by the Commission.

Because the ten days provided for Mary Holmes' response to
the General Counsel's questions have expired, and because the
answers thereto are essential for the complete investigation of
this matter, the General Counsel recommends that the attached

order and letter to Mary Holmes be approved by the Commission.




OMMENDATION

1. Approve and authorize the sending of the attached Order to
Answer Interrogatories and letter to Mary Holmes.

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

Attachments
1. Copy of Order
2. Copy of Questions
3. Copy of Letter

Associate General Counsel
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

ORDER TO SUBMIT WRITTEN ANSWERS

Mary Holmes

8430 Pamela

Utica, Michigan 48087

Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437d(a) (1), and in furtherance of its
investigation in the above-styled matter, the Federal Election
Commission hereby orders you to submit written answers to the

questions attached to this Order.

Such answers must be submitted under oath and must be

forwarded to the Commission within lo'days‘of your receipt of this

Order.
WHEREFORE, the Chairman of the Federal Election Commission
has hereunto set his hand in Washington, D.C. on this day of

» 1985.

ATTEST:

Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary to the Commission

Attachments
Questions (1 page)
Attachment A (6 pages)




[ ATTAMMENT 2 5

Questions to Mary Holmes

] | uRE LG 16, 1984, a complaint was filed with the Federal
Election Commission against Mary Holmes, President of the Shelby
County Republican Club, the subject of which was a five item
letter which in part concerned President Reagan's re-election. A
copy of the mailing was included with the complaint and is

these guestions as Attachment A, All references in

the mziling refer to the asove-rsesntioned letter.

wnat was the toteél number of letters mailed, sent out or

otherwise distributed or delivered?

2) Wwhat was the total cost of sending out and distributing the

mezilinc including reproduction costs and postage?

B Who paid.fort thelmailrng?

Answers should be submitted under oath and forwarded to the

Commission within 10 days of your receipt of these questions.
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YES, | WANT,TO HELP Mary Holmes HELP TIHE
President ,/

I WILL MAKE TELEPHONE CALLS
I WILL STUFF AND LABEL FNVELOPES

BUMPER STICKER YARD SIGN
ENCLOSED IS A CONTRIBUTION OF

[ Jioo [lsso [sos [ Jsa0 |

o Muke checks payable to Shelby Township Republican
Club.
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c/0 MARY HOLMES, PRESIDENT
SHELBY TOWNSH!IP REPUBLICAN CLUB

49680 VAN DYKE
UTICA, M1 48087
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON, D C 20463

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Ms. Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Ms, Holmes:

On November 29, 1984, you were notified that the Commission
found reason to believe you violated 2 U.S.C. § 441d, a provision
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. An
investigation of this matter is being conducted and it has been
determined that additional information from you is necessary.

Consequently, the Federal Election Commission has issued the
attached order which requires you to provide information which
will assist the Commission in carrying out its statutory duty of
supervising compliance with the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971, as amended.

You may consult with an attorney and have an attorney assist
you in the preparation of your responses to this order. However,
it is required that you submit the information under oath and
that you do so within ten days of your receipt of this order.

If you have any questions, please direct them to Eric
Kleinfeld, the attorney handling this matter, at (202) 523-4000.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosures
Order
Questions
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

November 29, 1984

Ronald E. Robertson, Chief Counsel
Reagan-Bush '84 .

440 First Street, N.W.

washington, D.C. 20001

Re: MUR 1740
Reagan-Bush '84

Dear Mr. Robertson:

on July 25, 1984, the Commission notified your client
Reagan-Bush '84 ("Committee") and Angela M. Buchanan Jackson, as
treasurer, of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on November 23, 1984, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your client there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been
committed by Reagan-Bush '84. Accordingly, the Commission closed
its file in this matter as it pertains to the Committee and
Angela M. Buchanan Jackson, as treasurer.

This matter will become a part of the public record within
30 days after the file has been closed with respect to all
respondents. The Commission reminds you that the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) remain
in effect until the entire matter is closed. The Commission will
notify you when the entire file has been closed.

Sincerely,

" Charles N. Steele

‘Associate Gengr




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

November 29, 1984

Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan

RE: MUR 1740
Mary Holmes

Dear Ms. Holmes:

The Federal Election Commission notified you on July 25,
1984, of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of
the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the
Act"). A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that
time.

Upon further review of the allegations contained in the
complaint, the Commission, on November 23 ., 1984, determined
that there is reason to believe that you have violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 4414, a provision of the Act. Specifically, it appears that
you failed to affix a disclaimer notice to your nailing.

As of this date, we have receivd no response from you in
connection with this matter. Please submit answers to the
enclosed questions within ten days of your receipt of this
letter. Your statement should be submitted under oath.

The Office of General Counsel would like to settle this
matter through conciliation prior to a finding of probable cause.
However, in the absence of any information which demonstrates
that no further action should be taken against you, the Office of
General Counsel must proceed to the next compliance stage as
noted on page 2, paragraph 2 of the enclosed procedures.

This matter will remain confidential in accordance with
2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) unless you notify
the Commission in writing that your clients wish the matter to be
made public.




Mary Holmes
Page 2

If you have any questions, please contact Martha Romney, the
staff member assigned to this matter, at (202)523-4000.

Sincetely,

Lée Ann Elllott
Chairman

Enclosures
Procedures




Questions to Marylﬂolnes

On July 16, 1984, a complaint was filed with the Federal
Election Commission against Mary Holmes, Fresident of the Shelby

County Republican Club, the subject of which was a five item
letter which in part concerned President Reagan's re-election. A
copy of the mailing was included with the complaint and is
attached to these questions as Attachment A, All references in

the questions to the mailing refer to the above-mentioned letter.

1) What was the total number of letters mailed, sent out or

otherwise distributed or delivered?

2) What was the total cost of sending out and distributing the

mailing including reproduction costs and postage?

3) Who paid for the mailing?

Answers should be submitted under oath and forwarded to the

Commission within 10 days of your receipt of these questions.
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MARY HOLMES TO RUN FOR REPRESENTATIVE SEAT

\

A former six year member of the Shelby Township Board of
Trustees, and current Chairman of the Township Planning Commission,
has znnounced her intentions to run for the State House of
Representatives.

Mary Holmes, a Republican, and 22 year resident of Shelby, will
offer the voters a clear choice between herself and Mary Ellen
Parrott (D-Shelby) who currently occupies the 26th District seat.

nolmes emphastzes :that -her stand op the issuas. 'tare counter to
n as

¢f her Democrat opponent', and that & candiaate she will

=
s on these differences.

"1 come from a strong pro-life family and I oppose abortion.
] oppose the Blanchard-Parrott 38% income tax increase. I want
to spend more on education and less on welfare. I would be more
pro-business than Mary Ellen, recognizing that before we have jobs
we must first have employers in this state. Michigan business 1is
either going bankrupt, or leaving the state because of the anti-
business stand of Mary Ellen Parrott and those like her in Lansing."

Holmes concludes that her election will 'send a message to
Lansing that their tax and spend policy has to change, and that
they can no longer fund their pet projects and raise their salaries
on the backs of the taxpayer of our state."

Xxx

Holmes is Chairman of the 26th liistrict REAGAN-BUSH '84

and asks that anvone wishing to ioin her and become

B IR A S RS S O O S pre51cenk;e2 campalgn, to plezse
hun v the Srclesed NOR tcand.




YES, -1 WANT, TO HELP Mary Holmes HELP THE
President ,/

I WILL MAKE TELEPHONE CALLS

I WILL STUFF AND LABEL FNVELOPES
BUMPER STICKER YARD SIGN
ENCLOSED IS A CONTRIBUTION OF -

[[Ts100 [Jsso [s2s [lsio

o Muke checks payable to Shelby Township Republican
Club.
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c/0 MARY HOLMES, PRESIDENT
SHELBY TOWNSHIP REPUBLICAN CLUB
49680 VAN DYKE
UTICA, MI. 18087
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year, the gmeatest employment giun in 33 years.

President Reagan's piogram alio conquered inllation -
the cruelest tax of all. “That coippling:, double-digat inflation
rate has been cut to 3.8 percent. hesident Reagran also
redirected a broad range of social services to those
Amencans truly in riced.

All Amencans are better off now than they were four
years ago.

World Ieadership

Amwericais aln back as a world leader Under President
Reagan's Icadership, we have rebuilt our national defensen
and gained respect among nations with a firm, coherent
foreiym policy. |

The national sccunty of the United States has been
strenpthened and Amenca has reginned its stinding as the
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leadig e ate of peace imwd treedom m the wos ki

A President Reagram has sud, " We Know the tad -2
the fitine v b eedom tube, and that Anwiea’s new
strenvth and < encze of purpoie will caney heye and o
poitumity fn from o shores ™

The unfinished work

Pyeadent Reagan has challenged us o imove (o
wand agam, to unite behind four great goals to keey
Amenca fiee, secure and at peace for the '8is

1. Ensne s teady economic growth: President
Reagan will continne is progranm of tax icbief and
steady cconomic growth.

2 Develop space, Amenca’s next frontier: [yes
dent Reagzan has proposed the construction of a pa
nuanent manned space station.

3. Srengthen our trallitional vatues: yesident
iveap wall contmue 1o promote a1 enaissure in
the traditional values of faith, fimily, work and
nciehbonhood.

1. Build 2 mcaninglul peace: President Reagan
has proposed substantial reductions in nuclea
weapons through genume anns control

Leadership

The chowee is clear. We can
retum to the failed policies of
the past. O we can move fin
ward together wath President
Reayran's leadership to baild
futine m which peace, trev
dom and prospenity abaiand,
not only lor all Amencans, bt
fou all peoples
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C 20463

Mary Holmes
8430 Pamela
Utica, Michigan 48087

RE: MUR 1740 1%
Mary Holmes

Dear Ms. Holmes:

The Federal Election Commission notified you on July 25,
1984, of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections of
the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the

Act"). A copy of the complaint was forwarded to you at that
time.

Upon further review of the allegations contained in the
complaint, the Commission, on , 1984, determined
that there is reason to believe that you have violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 4414, a provision of the Act. Specifically, it appears that
you failed to affix a disclaimer notice to your mailing.

As of this date, we have receivd no response from you in
connection with this matter. Please submit answers to the
enclosed questions within ten days of your receipt of this
letter. Your statement should be submitted under oath.

) The Office of General Counsel would like to settle this

matter through conciliation prior to a finding of probable cause.
However, in the absence of any information which demonstrates
that no further action should be taken against you, the Office of
General Counsel must proceed to the next compliance stage as
noted on page 2, paragraph 2 of the enclosed procedures.

This matter will remain confidential in accordance with
2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) unless you notify
the Commission in writing that your clients wish the matter to be
made public.




Mary Holmes
Page 2

If you have any questions, please contact Martha Romney, the
staff member assigned to this matter, at (202)523-4000.

Sincerely,

Enclosures
Procedures




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Ronald E. Robertson, Chief Counsel
Reagan-Bush '84

440 First Street, N.W.

washington, D.C. 20001

Re: MUR 1740 TC
Reagan-Bush '84

Dear Mr. Robertson:

On July 25, 1984, the Commission notified your client
Reagan-Bush '84 ("Committee") and Angela M. Buchanan Jackson, as
treasurer, of a complaint alleging violations of certain sections
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on » 1984, determined that on the
basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by your client there is no reason to believe that a
violation of any statute within its jurisdiction has been
committed by Reagan-Bush '84. Accordingly, the Commission closed
its file in this matter as it pertains to the Committee and
Angela M. Buchanan Jackson, as treasurer.

This matter will become a part of the public record within
30 days after the file has been closed with respect to all
respondents. The Commission reminds you that the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §§ 437g(a) (4) (B) and 437g(a) (12) (A) remain
in effect until the entire matter is closed. The Commission will
notify you when the entire file has been closed.

Sincerely,

. Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1740

Mary Holmes

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on November 23,
1984, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take

the following actions in MUR 1740:

1. Find reason to believe that Mary
Holmes violated 2 U.S.C. § 441d.

2. Find no reason to believe that
Reagan Bush '84 and Angela Buchanan
Jackson, as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. § 4414. ;

Approve and authorize the sending
of the questions attached to the
First General Counsel's Report
signed November 19, 1984.

Approve and authorize the sending
of the letters attached to the

First General Counsel's Report
signed November 19, 1984.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, McDonald,

McGarry and Reiche voted affirmatively in this matter.
Attest:

//-as-{}/

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

j;¥h4%+ Cl~txfa—n,oqz”\,/

"4

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 11-20-84, 8:40
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 11-20-84, 11:00




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM
TO: Office of the Commission Secretary

FROM: Office of General CounselCﬁX&r

DATE: November 20, 1984

SUBJECT: MUR 1740 - First General Counsel's Report'

The attached jis submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive

Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive

Non-Sensitive | Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION - "f FEC
1325 K Street, N.W: oL LHETARY
Washington, D.C. 20463

e F 3 S o Y | gnad
RECEIVED

FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL'S (ﬁFRﬂWl‘gn A 8 ; 40
DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL MUR 1740
BY OGC TO THE COMMISSION/ 4'DATE COMPLAINT RECEIVED July 16, 1984
®:4s” STAFF MEMBER Romney
COMPLAINANT'S NAME: Robert Brandenburg
RESPONDENT'S NAME: Mary Holmes

RELEVANT STATUTE: 2 U.S.C. §§ 4414
11 C.F.R. § 110.11

INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: None
FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: None
SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS
Robert Brandenburg, Complainant, filed a complaint with the
Commission alleging that Mary Holmes, a candidate for the 26th

Michigan State Representative District, directly mailed a

~
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fundraising letter for President Reagan's re-election that does

5

not appear to comply with 2 U.S.C. § 44l1d(a). (Attachment I).

The following documents were submitted with the complaint:

0490

1) An envelope mailed to an addressee bearing the statement

"Mary Holmes for State Representative." 2) A letter announcing

8 5

Mary Holmes' candidacy for State Representative. The letter
outlines Mary Holmes' experience and states her position on
certain issues. The letter also notes that Mary Holmes is the
Chairperson of the 26th District Reagan-Bush '84 campaign and
requests that anyone wishing to become involved in a grass-roots

presidential campaign fill out and mail the enclosed post card.
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(a))
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3) A post card which states "Yes, I want to help Mary Holmes help
the President." The card requests assistance with making
telephone calls, stuffing and labeling envelopes, posting bumper
stickers, and posting yard signs. The card also solicits
contributions to the Shelby Township Republican Club. 4) A
return envelope addressed to Reagan-Bush '84, c/o Mary Holmes,
President, Shelby Township Republican Club. 5) A two page
leaflet featuring President Reagan and Vice President Bush which
contains the disclaimer notice, "Paid for by Reagan-Bush '84;
Paul Laxalt, Chairman; Angela M. Buchanan Jackson, Treasurer."

Copies of the complaint were sent to Mary Holmes and
Reagan-Bush '84. Mary Holmes did not respond to the complaint.
Reagan-Bush '84 requested an extension of time to respond to the
complaint. The extension of time was granted and a response has
now been received. (Attachment II).

FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

In response to the complaint, Reagan-Bush '84 asserts that
the mailing made by Mary Holmes was not paid for by Reagan-Bush
'84. Reagan-Bush '84 states that Mary Holmes received no
remuneration of any sort from Reagan-Bush '84, that she occupied
no official position with Reagan-Bush '84, and that Reagan-Bush
'84 never authorized Mary Holmes, either expressly or implicitly
to incur expenditures on its behalf. Further Reagan-Bush '84

states that any actions that Mary Holmes may have taken were
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done 80 to further her own political ambitions and were not done
to benefit Reagan-Bush '84. Also, Reagan-Bush '84 states that
Mary Holmes' only alleged tie to Reagan-Bush '84 is her so-called
status as a "District Chairman." Reagan-Bush '84 states that no
employee, consultant or other authorized officer of Reagan-Bush
'84 appointed Mary Holmes as "District Chairman." In fact,
according to Reagan-Bush '84, there are no such positions as
Reagan-Bush '84 "District Chairman" in the State of Michigan.

Two affidavits were filed with the response by Reagan-Bush
'84. Ruth Steinberg, the Campaign Coordinator for States
Expenditures, states that a review of Reagan-Bush '84 financial
records reveals that no expenditure was either authorized or made
in ccnnection with the Mary Holmes mailing, that a review of the
Reagan-Bush '84 payroll records reveals that at no time was
Mary Holmes a consultant to, employee or officer of Reagan-Bush
'84 nor did Reagan-Bush '84 ever pay money, for any purpose to,
or on account of, Mary Holmes.

Aileen Kishaba, the Special Assistant to the Regional
Campaign Director for the Midwest Region, stated that she assists
in supervising all campaign related activities conducted at the
state and local levels, including the dissemination of campaign
materials. Ms. Kishaba attests that Mary Holmes has never been
appointed to any position within the Reagan-Bush '84 hierarchy

and that county and congressional district chairmen are expressly
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precluded from incurring, authorizing or making expenditures on
behalf of Reagan-Bush '84. Ms. Kishaba states that on June 8,
1984, an individual who "held himself out to be state Senator
Kirby Holmes" telephoned Ms. Kishaba requesting a large quantity
of Reagan-Bush '84 brochures not unlike the ones that were mailed
by Ms. Holmes. Ms. Kishaba asserts that she declined to provide
Mr. Holmes with the materials that he requested.

Reagan-Bush '84, Aileen Kishaba and Ruth Steinberg, all
assert that their first notification of Mary Holmes' activities
was after the complaint in this matter was filed. Therefore, in
light of the evidence provided by Reagan-Bush '84, it appears
that Mary Holmes acted on her own initiative and without the
authority of Reagan-Bush '84.

The complaint raises the issue of whether a proper 2 U.S.C.
§ 441d disclaimer notice was affixed to the mailing.*/

2 U.8.C. § 441d(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.11 state that
whenever a person makes an expenditure for the purpose of
financing communications which advocate the election or defeat of

a candidate or solicits any contribution through direct mail the

*/ There is no evidence that Mary Holmes spent more than $1,000
in distributing the Reagan-Bush campaign literature causing the
making of an excessive in-kind contribution or that the Shelby
Township Republican Club, Mary Holmes, as President, received
contributions or made expenditures for a federal election which
would cause it to become a political committee. Thus, 2 U.S.C.

§ 44la(a)(1)(A) and 2 U.S.C. §§ 433 and 434 issues are not raised
at this time.
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communication, if it is paid for and authorized by a candidate or

his authorized political committee, shall state that it has been

paid for by such political committee. If the communication is

paid for by another person but authorized by a candidate or the
candidate's committee, the communication shall so state. If the
communication is not authorized by a candidate or the candidate's
committee, the communication must clearly state who paid for the
communication and indicate that it is not authorized by any
candidate or candidate's committee.

Reagan-Bush '84 had no connection to the mailing sent out by
Mary Holmes. Further, the two page leaflet which was enclosed
with the mailing featuring President Reagan and Vice President
Bush did contain a Reagan-Bush '84 disclaimer notice. Therefore,
the Office of General Counsel recommends that the Commission find
no reason to believe that Reagan-Bush '84 violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 4414.

With regard to Mary Holmes, her letter contained a card
soliciting contributions to help her help President Reagan and
contained the two page leaflet featuring President Reagan and
Vice President Bush. No disclaimer noti